





## Contents

Message from the Board Co-Chairs	1		
Message from the Interim Clinic Director			
Message from the Academic Director			
Treasurer's Report			
Awards and Honours			
Dorothy Leatch Award	10		
Frederick H. Zemans Prize in Poverty Law	11		
Year in Review			
Housing Rights	12		
Immigration and Migrant Rights	14		
Workers' Rights	18		
Social Assistance, Anti-Violence and Health (SAVAH)	24		
Funders	27		
Donor Spotlight	28		
Board, Staff, Students and Volunteers			

Cover illustration by Paterson Hodgson

### **Message from the Board Co-Chairs**



**PARMBIR GILL** *Co-Chair, Board of Directors* 



**JANET MOSHER** *Co-Chair, Board of Directors* 

On September 1, 2021, Parkdale Community Legal Services marked a significant milestone – 50 years since its opening on September 1, 1971. Over the course of those 50 years, PCLS staff and students have worked alongside members of the Parkdale community to change the systems and structures that reproduce oppression and to seek justice for community members whose rights have been violated. There have been many successful fights against injustice and some setbacks too. But a constant has been the remarkable dedication and commitment of staff, students, and board members. To all who have contributed to the struggle for justice over these 50 years, thank you!

To celebrate the Clinic's 50th anniversary, a wonderful community event was held in Sorauren Park on October 17, 2021. We also took time to reflect on Critical Campaigns and Cases, Community and Movement Lawyering, and Community Clinics and Racial Justice through three online panels. The panels yielded wonderfully rich conversations and we invite you to take a listen to the recordings if you were not able to join the sessions: <u>https://www.parkdalelegal.org/news/50th-</u> <u>anniversary-panel-series/</u>. And on July 16, 2022, alums of the Intensive Program in Poverty Law gathered to tour the new Clinic spaces (more about this below)



and reminisce with old friends about their time at the Clinic. It was also the occasion to share a 50th anniversary video, which you can watch here: <u>https://www.youtube.</u> <u>com/watch?v=KWFxP\_A9mxE</u>. Thanks are owing to all of the video participants and especially to our videographer, Sidney Weiss.

The Clinic was thrilled to welcome Kara Gillies as the Clinic Director on April 11, 2022. Kara brings over twenty years' experience as a leader in the non-profit sector. Her vast experience in working alongside communities to advocate for social justice and in developing successful law reform campaigns informed by the lived experiences of community members, together with her deep commitment to equity, anti-racism, and anti-oppression position her as an outstanding leader for PCLS. Kara's connections with the Parkdale community go back many years, to when she first worked with PCLS staff to secure the rights of sex workers. Since that time, Kara has served in leadership roles in a variety of community-based, social justice, and interdisciplinary contexts, including Maggie's: Toronto Sex Workers Action Project, Hassle Free Clinic, Voices of Positive Women Support Services, Choice in Health Clinic, and most recently as the ED of Action Canada.

Prior to Kara's arrival in April, the Clinic benefited enormously from the exceptional leadership provided by John No as Interim Clinic Director. With his characteristic good humour, patience, generosity, humility, and clear thinking, John led the Clinic for over 13 months. Remarkably, he managed to do so while continuing as the supervising lawyer in the Workers' Rights Division, leading some of us to wonder whether there are in fact two John Nos! A debt of gratitude

is also owed to Tenzin Tekan and Wendy Atkinson, who worked alongside John, shouldering a mountain of additional responsibilities to see us through the period of searching for a new Clinic Director.

An important development in 2021-22 was the move of the entire Clinic back into the Parkdale community. Yes, there are some issues to be worked out as we settle into our new spaces at 366 Dufferin Street and 1229 Queen Street West (lower level), but it's fabulous to be back in the Parkdale community and to have clients dropping by the new Clinic space.



We have the honour of co-chairing a board of dedicated folks who care deeply about social justice and about the Parkdale community. From serving on the hiring committee, to planning the 50th anniversary celebrations, to drafting and redrafting policies, it's been a busy year and we are enormously grateful for all of the many contributions board members make (and have made over time) to ensuring the unique and gutsy entity that is Parkdale Community Legal Services continues.

### **Message from the Interim Clinic Director**

Perhaps it is symbolic that new beginnings, fresh renewals, and exciting additions occurred in our 50th year. Like the greater Parkdale community, we continue to be resilient and adaptable.

The funding cuts of 2019, eviction from our long time home that same year, the splitting of our staff and students (where half of us ended up working in a temporary space in the financial district), and the COVID-19 pandemic, caused much havoc and anxiety.



**JOHN NO** Interim Clinic Director, PCLS

We persevered, however, and we are happy to share the exciting changes that happened in our 50th year:

- We have a beautiful new home on Queen Street West across from our old home where we can welcome the community again.
- We have a bright, newly renovated second office space just around the corner from our main office to accommodate many of our law students and staff.

• All staff and students are reunited in the Parkdale community. Both our spaces are alive (and noisy!) with vigorous discussions, comradeship, and community engagement.

• Our Social Assistance, Violence and Heath (SAVAH) division is now representing our community in human rights matters in the area of goods, services and facilities while our Workers' Rights division and Housing Rights division continue to represent our community in human rights matters in the areas of employment and housing respectively. • We expanded access to our clinic. Pre-pandemic, we only offered walkin services. We now have multiple access points. You now can connect with us by telephone, webform, videoconferencing, or by dropping in to our office. We hope that the new access points – and our traditional walk-in services – reduce some of the barriers that people face in seeking assistance.

• We believe in providing our staff with good working conditions. We became one of the few community legal clinics that will be providing its staff with a defined pension plan.

And the above new "happenings" do not even cover the usual work that we do on a day-to-day basis, that is to say, community and movement building work, law reform campaigns, and legal case work. We are excited to let you know about those exciting updates in this Annual Report.

Finally, on a more personal note, I would like to thank those who have provided me with support during the 14 months that I was in the caretaker interim Clinic Director role. I am so grateful to all my colleagues for their kind encouragement and support. Special thanks go out to our Board Co-Chairs Janet Mosher and Parmbir Gill, Program and Operations Director Tenzin Tekan, and Finance Officer Wendy Atkinson for so generously taking on extra responsibilities. I am very excited that Kara Gillies joined us in April 2022 as the new Clinic Director. Parkdale Community Legal Services will benefit greatly from her incredible knowledge and experience.

Please stay connected and engaged with us. We look forward to sharing more exciting updates with you in our 51st year!

# **Message from the Academic Director**



FAY FARADAY Academic Director, PCLS

As a former Osgoode student and PCLS Board co-chair, it was a real thrill for me to join PCLS wearing a new hat as the Academic Director in 2021-2022. It has been particularly exciting for me and the students to return to work in the Clinic's new space in the community.

The Intensive Program in Poverty Law at Parkdale is unique. While the law students work under the supervision of the Clinic's lawyers to deliver legal services to the Clinic's clients, they are, at the same time, engaged in rigorous academic study.

I work with the students throughout the term to develop a deeper understanding of how law operates as a system of power. How a law is designed can either create barriers or restrictions for people or, alternatively, provide supports that respond to their real needs. The academic program helps students to critically evaluate law's role and contribution in both creating legal challenges for members of the Parkdale-Swansea community and its potential as a tool to advance social justice. We examine how the legal challenges that arise in Parkdale Swansea – whether related to housing, immigration, workers' rights or social assistance and violence – are part of a larger pattern that can be addressed through collective action, community organizing, and law reform as well as litigation in individual cases.

The academic program also encourages reflection on questions of professional responsibility and ethics that arise in relation to the various roles that lawyers play in struggles for social justice and social change.



This year's students embraced that commitment to develop the critical thinking, ethical and practical skills of community-based lawyering. We look forward to them joining the community of legal allies who are strong advocates for social justice.

# **Treasurer's Report**



**ARTHUR KONG** *Treasurer, PCLS* 

The Auditor's Report is presented to the membership of Parkdale Community Legal Services each year at the Annual General Meeting. The purpose of an annual audit is to provide the membership with a "reasonable assurance" that the Financial Statements do not contain any misstatements due to fraud or error.

Parkdale's audit was performed by the accounting firm Segal LLP. The auditors test the financial systems and assure you, the members, that the financial picture presented to you, is a fair description of Parkdale's financial position.

LAO continues to be the primary funder of PCLS Services, funding 92% of the Clinic's overall budget during the year. We would like to especially thank LAO for providing PCLS with support to successfully move our offices back to Parkdale, after a difficult couple of years. Generous donations made up 2% of our annual revenue. The annual Osgoode Hall Law School Grant, and project funding consisting of grants from the Community Housing Transformation Centre, came in around 5% and 1% respectively. Many thanks to all our generous supporters!

Staffing the clinic and maintaining our offices comprise the largest portion of expenditures for PCLS. This is a normal spending pattern in a community organization similar to ours. Our work is only possible through efforts of our dedicated staff, students and volunteers. The PCLS Board of Directors is pleased that once again, the organization has received a clean audit with one exception. The only qualification in our audit is a standard one for most not-for-profit organizations. Auditors have no way of independently verifying the money that donors may send to a charity.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank the auditors, Segal LLP, for their work in producing the audited Financial Statements.

# **Awards and Honours**

# Dorothy Leatch Award



Ayan Kailie is a community leader and strong equity advocate. Ayan is an Executive Board member of Swansea Town Hall and a Swansea Mews Pod leader. She has a deep connection to Swansea Mews and has volunteered for many events within the larger Swansea community. She is a parent of three young children and has served on the Parent Council at the local elementary school for the last 5 years. Ayan is the first Black council chair in Swansea school history.

As a member of the Swansea Mews community, Ayan Kailie organized a tenant food bank and was involved in a variety of other community initiatives. During the recent crisis in Swansea Mews, Ayan was a vocal advocate for her community. Ayan has since moved to Parkdale where she plans to continue her community work.

# Frederick H. Zemans Prize in Poverty Law ALISON IMRIE



Alison Imrie is the 2021-2022 recipient of the Frederick H. Zemans Prize in Poverty Law. Named in honour of PCLS' founding Clinic Director, the Frederick Zemans prize is awarded annually to an outstanding student in the Intensive Program in Poverty Law. Ali Imrie served as a student caseworker in the SAVAH Division in both the fall and winter terms. She is a quick learner, took great initiative to identify the issues her clients were facing, and always came prepared with ideas and solutions for moving a case forward. She consistently went above and beyond to gather evidence and information in support of clients' hearings before the Social Benefits Tribunal. Ali also did outstanding work in the weekly academic seminar where her insights connected critical reflection about the legal system with practical application of the law. She also made a significant contribution to the legal literature. She conducted important original qualitative research that centered the voices and experiences of women with disabilities navigating the ODSP system. Ali Imrie has been an outstanding advocate for social justice and it has been a tremendous pleasure having her as part of the PCLS community.

# **Year in Review**

PCLS' work is organized around four areas: Housing Rights, Social Assistance, Violence and Health (SAVAH), Immigration and Migrant Rights, and Workers' Rights. We share highlights from the past year about each area below.

Next 50 years Justice for ALL I

#### **HOUSING RIGHTS**

The Housing Division continued to engage with hundreds of tenants in Parkdale and across the GTA through outreach and organizing programs. We focus our work on developing the capacity of tenants to resist displacement by organizing against evictions, rent increases, and to improve the conditions of their housing. We were pleased to receive support from the Community Housing Transformation Centre to expand our work in the area of eviction prevention for tenants living in rooming houses. On the casework front, we successfully met a very strong demand by Parkdale tenants (over 600 cases) for legal advice, services and representation.

#### **Recent examples of the Housing Division's work include:**

• After a fire at a Parkdale rooming house, we worked with tenants to ensure the City of Toronto provided for their need for temporary accommodations and that the landlord repaired the building so that their tenancies could be preserved at their long-time home.

• We supported a tenant committee at one Parkdale low-rise building which successfully organized to beat their landlord's attempt to renovict them after their building was sold to real estate investors.

• We litigated the case of a large group of tenants facing renoviction for the second time in three years at the Landlord and Tenant Board and now await the Board's decision which will have precedent-setting implications for tenants across Ontario.

 Recognizing that changes in building ownership exacerbate displacement pressures on tenants, we collaborated with RenovictionsTO to reach out directly to tenants living in buildings listed for sale or recently sold to organize in advance of possible efforts to displace them.

• Immediately responded to and supported the tenants of Swansea Mews who were facing forcible "relocation" by Toronto Community Housing due to major disrepair of the residential complex. The Housing Division staff and students established a consistent presence in Swansea Mews, held meetings with tenants, and supported to tenants to form a tenant organization to share information and make decisions collectively.

#### **IMMIGRATION AND MIGRANT RIGHTS**

Canada's refugee system arbitrarily and unfairly excludes many applicants who are not able to get asylum. As Canada has moved towards a greater number of temporary permits without a corresponding increase in permanent resident status, many are not able to renew their permits. Many people are the victims of unscrupulous immigration lawyers, consultants and agencies that misrepresent immigration options and mislead people, forcing them to eventually become undocumented. Others simply are not able to navigate the complex immigration system without support, and support is difficult and expensive to get. As a result, 1.7 million people now have temporary and precarious immigration status.



PCLS has worked with the Migrant Workers Alliance for Change (MWAC) since 2012 and works with the cross-country Migrant Rights Network formed in 2018. We launched a campaign for Status for All in 2020. Throughout the year we have continued to push for regularization of undocumented people in Canada and PR on landing for those coming to Canada to work. The December 2021 mandate letter of the Minister of Immigration calls for a new regularization program for undocumented people. We are pressing the government to ensure the program provides the greatest access to all undocumented people.



We've been equally busy on the casework front. From January to December 2021 we opened 126 new cases and closed 89 cases. In early 2021 we were retained by a young woman sponsored by her aunt under the "lonely Canadian" category who was issued a removal order on arrival in Canada for failing to disclose her child on her application. We challenged the existing Federal Court jurisprudence that limited a right of appeal in these circumstances, developing a novel statutory interpretation argument that the limitation is arbitrary and unreasonable particularly in the context of the COVID pandemic. Rather than fight it out at the Immigration Appeal Division, the Minister instead rescinded the removal order, landing our client without even the need for a hearing.

We successfully defeated an allegation that one of our very vulnerable elderly clients was inadmissible on medical grounds. IRCC had alleged, based on a misunderstanding of her living circumstances, that the cost of her care exceeded the allowable cost threshold and as such she was inadmissible due to excessive demand on public health and social services. We were provided very limited disclosure of the evidence IRCC was relying on but eventually discovered that they were alleging that she needed a level of care only provided privately in Ontario, therefore falling outside the excessive demand calculation. We provided extensive submissions and IRCC withdrew the allegation. This is an example of the incredible miscarriages of justice that can be perpetrated by IRCC.



We also had a number of significant successes in the Federal Court; two cases settling after Leave was granted and a third settling after a session of Court provided mediation under the Federal Court immigration pilot project. Our clients were a Ugandan woman who had endured over a decade of domestic violence; an HIV+ pastor from Nigeria; and, the adopted child of a Protected Person in Canada who has been separated from her adoptive mother for over 6 years, respectively.

COVID has significantly affected our services delivery model as we try to adhere to public health directives. We have not resumed our drop in services but remain open for telephone access as well as in person meetings (by appointment only). Our clients for whom English is often not their first language have really struggled with this. Our plan to resume drop-in services has been further delayed due to the continued surges in infections caused by Covid-19 variants.

We continue to work with caregivers who are in Canada under a complicated mix of old and new programs. There continues to be significant misinformation and misunderstanding as to the rules that apply depending on when the person entered the country as a caregiver. We continued to work with the caregiver community to assist with PR work permit applications including open work permits for vulnerable workers.

#### **WORKERS' RIGHTS**



Wave after wave of the COVID pandemic has exposed ongoing, systemic inequalities in our society. As the economy ground to a halt, millions of frontline workers were forced into essential work. Those on the frontlines, keeping society fed, cared for, clean, and connected were largely working in low-wage, dangerous work without paid sick days or health benefits. COVID disproportionality hit low-wage and racialized workers. PCLS joined <u>Justice for Workers</u> (previously Fight for \$15 and Fairness campaign) in launching the <u>campaign</u> on May 1, 2021 to demand changes to address precarious work, tackle inequality, and improve wages and working conditions.



In November 2021, the Justice for Workers campaign was successful in pressing the provincial government to restore the \$15 minimum wage that was cancelled back in 2018. This demonstrates that even under the most recalcitrant of governments, gains can be made. Also in November, we worked with the Migrant Workers' Alliance for Change and Workers' Action Centre to win improvements for temporary agency workers and migrant workers. A long standing demand of migrants and temp agency workers has been to require recruiters and agencies to be licenced to operate in Ontario. In November, 2021 a new licencing regime for temp agencies and recruiters was passed.

The pandemic shone the light on the need for paid sick days. Along with Justice for Workers and the Decent Work and Health Network, we were able to force the Ford government to introduce three temporary paid sick days. We were then able to win 10 paid sick days for federally regulated workers in December 2021.



The pandemic exposed the gaps in the EI program which leaves all too many with inadequate and inaccessible EI benefits when jobs are lost. The federal government responded to this by launching a review of the EI program. PCLS and the Interprovincial EI Working Group has been pressing the government to improve access and adequacy of EI, especially for workers in low wage and precarious work. Phase I of the review was completed in February 2022 and Phase II is now underway.

The Workers' Rights division had another eventful year. First, the numbers for (a) full representation cases opened, (b) number of clients/workers assisted, and (c) full representation cases completed were the highest since the funding cuts of 2019.



Workers' Rights Division File Openings, Summary Advices, & Closings					
Year	Files Opened	Summary Advice (excludes briefs that became files)	<b>Total</b> (Files Opened + Summary Advice/Briefs)	Files Completed	
2019 - 2020	60	188	248	80	
2020 - 2021	64	111	175	59	
2021 - 2022	72	233	305	90	

The Workers' Rights division also recovered \$770,831.81 in unpaid wages, wrongful dismissal damages, and other employment entitlements in 2021-22. This is the second highest amount recovered since we started keeping track in 2011 (in total, we recovered \$6.3 million for our clients/workers since 2011).

#### Some of the more noteworthy cases/results include:

• Back in 2017, we began representing 11 migrant farm workers from Guatemala who were not properly paid their wages. We managed to secure Orders to Pay from the Ministry of Labour, but we subsequently spent the next few years trying to enforce the Orders to Pay. Early in 2022, after years of struggle, we managed to collect all the money owing to the workers. Thankfully, we were able to track down all 11 workers again and deliver the funds to them.

• We filed Employment Protection for Foreign National Act (EPFNA) claims on behalf six foreign migrant care workers who each paid

approximately \$10,000 in illegal fees to a recruiter. The recruiter had taken great length to avoid a paper trail, e.g., requiring payment in cash. • The Ministry of Labour declined to issue orders to pay on five of the six claims as it accepted the recruiter's argument that she was not a recruiter but a helpful neighbour/community member who happened to connect employers to workers. We filed Applications to Review to the Ontario Labour Relations Board, arguing that the Ministry of Labour's investigation and logic was flawed. The case attracted media attention and ultimately resulted in money recovered for the workers.

• We represented a truck driver who was sued by his former employer for defamation when the truck driver engaged in public protest against the former employer for unpaid wages. We worked with a law firm in both securing the unpaid wages for the truck driver and having the defamation lawsuit dismissed on an anti-SLAPP motion.

• We represented a migrant live-in care worker who asked her employer about not receiving public holiday pay. The employer berated the worker angrily and provided her with a disciplinary letter for a litany of supposed performance issues, including for "incorrectly demanded... public holiday pay." Faced with aggressive behaviour, the worker resigned. The Workers' Rights division filed a complaint with the Ministry of Labour arguing that the employer violated the antireprisal provision of the Employment Standards Act. The Ministry of Labour agreed and awarded the worker \$10,269.00 as loss-of-wages until she secured alternative employment, \$1,141.00 as loss of inherent value of having a job, and \$250.00 for emotional pain and suffering. • The pandemic caused many workers to be laid-off. We represented numerous low-income individuals who would normally not be able to access their common law wrongful dismissal damages. For example, four "shipping & receiving" co-workers were never recalled from a temporary lay-off. We negotiated with their employer and successfully obtained common law pay in lieu of notice for all four workers.

There are a lot of ongoing exciting projects that have yet to conclude, including a Charter challenge, so please keep following us on various social media to receive updates on what we are doing!

# SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, ANTI-VIOLENCE AND HEALTH (SAVAH)



It's a restart, a reboot, a new beginning with the Social Assistance, Anti-Violence and Health (SAVAH) team. We have a new lawyer, Lindsay Blair Holder, and a new community legal worker, Butterfly Sabrina GoPaul.

Since the spring, we've been busy working on (re)engaging residents and residents' groups, grassroots movements, convening initiatives tables focusing on specific issues, local agencies and organizations to re-establish relationships and connectivity. We continue to re-envision community-based campaigns that are by residents and for residents that will be responsive to community needs and address systemic and structural barriers for change while providing support to mobilize, organize and fight back against these interconnected forms of oppression that residents/resident groups identify. Moving into the uncertainty of whatever 'post pandemic' will look like, it's more evident of the glaring disparities of inequities in the socio-economic marginalization of Black, Indigenous, racialized peoples and the working poor communities in the City of Toronto. SAVAH has a commitment to ensure we are relevant to the community residents of Parkdale, centering the community in the work we do and the collaborations ahead and grounding the work in community development principles.

We provide a wide range of services in the form of summary advice, informal advocacy, and representation. In the area of social assistance, PCLS continued to advocate on hundreds of disputes regarding our clients' eligibility and access to Ontario Works ("OW") and Ontario Disability Support Program ("ODSP") benefits on issues such as:



The SAVAH team also spent time offering legal information, advice and advocacy to folks on other social benefit programs like Canada Pension Plan disability benefits, Old Age Security and the Guaranteed Income Supplement.

We have continued to support and guide community members and clients experiencing gender-based violence, systemic violence and issues relating to mental health. With the sudden closure of the CICB, PCLS has continued to provide assistance and advocacy service for community members who are facing barriers to accessing their awarded compensation.

SAVAH is excited to share that we are expanding into the area of Human Rights law by assisting community members with applications and representation at the Human Rights Tribunal of Ontario on issues of discrimination in the area of provincially regulated services. For example discriminatory incidents relating to retail stores, security guards, municipal/provincial services, schools, and policing

Our work continues with a focus on individuals who are historically marginalized by race, class, gender, ability, age and status. In addition, we are a resource for community organizations and student learners.

We are excited for a new start in SAVAH and look forward to bringing in fresh perspectives as we carry on the 50 years of fighting for justice alongside members of the Parkdale community!

# Thank you to our funders





OSGOODE HALL LAW SCHOOL Y O R K U N I V E R S I T Y



Community Housing Transformation Centre Centre de transformation du logement communautaire

# **Donor Spotlight**





Congratulations to <u>Jillian</u> <u>Tamaki</u>, author, illustrator and Parkdale resident, for winning the 2021 Marilyn Baillie Picture Book Award for Our Little Kitchen. Jillian generously donated the prize money of \$20,000 to PCLS. Thank you, Jillian!

# **Board, Staff, Student & Volunteers**

#### BOARD

#### STAFF

Adrian Smith	beth long
Arthur Kong	Butterfly Sabrina GoPaul
Danielle Bisnar	Cole Webber
Fay Faraday	David Bell
Janet Mosher	John No
Katie German	Kara Gillies
Luca Lucarini	Lindsay Blair Holder
Nadia Rajaram	Mary Gellatly
Newsha Zargaran	Phyllis Abrahams
Nicole Biros-Bolton	Rose Nabwire
Opal Sparks	Samuel Mason
Parmbir Gill	Sarika Singodia
Samara Secter	Sheleca Henry
Sarah Robicheau	Tenzin Tekan
	Toni Schweitzer
	Vic Natola

#### VOLUNTEERS

Kylie Sier Sidney Weiss Wendy Atkinson

#### **STUDENTS**

Adele Zhang	Kruti Sheth
Aidan Bullen	Lara Zarum
Ali Mesbahian	Madison Gateman
Alison Imrie	Matthew Oppenheim
Anita Singh	Matthew Cohen
Anthony Kuan	Michael Smith
Athira Salim	Miranda Cooper
Bunisha Samuels	Naomi Santesteban
Chang Dae Hyun	Newsha Zargaran
Chloe Carr	Noora Mahmoud
Emily Kim	Raeldri Pazza
Hannah Walters-Vida	Rebecka Arraial
Hannah Wilson	Sarah Millman
Isaiah Smith	Sebastian Pazdan
Jasmeen Grewal	SierahMcDowall
Joey Jang	Sophia Abbatt
Jonathan Wallace	Subhah Wadhawan
Katherine Griffin	TravisMoore
Katherine Allen	Victoria Bazak
Kaveri Patwardhan	

Parkdale Community Legal Services 1229 Queen Street West, Lower Level Toronto ON, M6K 1L2

Tel. (416) 531-2411 Fax. (416) 531-0885

info@parkdalelegal.org www.parkdalelegal.org

Facebook: <u>fb.com/ParkdaleLegal</u> Twitter: <u>@ParkdaleLegal</u> Join our mailing list: <u>http://eepurl.com/cZne6</u>

Report design by Tenzin Tekan and Tseten Tekan



Charitable Registration No. 1078 14972 RR0001